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RFP No. 1-12-C245 
Real Estate, Environmental and Other Miscellaneous Legal Services 

for the 
Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 

 
Questions and Answers 
 
Notice: Questions may have been edited for clarity and relevance. 
 
1. Is the responding firm required to have a DC-based Real Estate lawyer? 

 
Answer:  All attorneys assigned to this effort must be licensed to practice law in any 
state.  The lead attorney must be licensed to practice law in Virginia. 

 

2. Is attendance at the pre-proposal conference required and is it intended to be a 
question & answer opportunity for the proposal? 
 
Answer:  This question is out of date.  Attendance was not required at the pre-
proposal conference. 

 
3. Will questions submitted via this website be distributed to all RFP recipients or will we 

each receive responses only to the questions we submit?  Will responses to the 
clarification questions submitted through this site be ongoing or is there a date when 
we can expect a response? 
 
Answer:  Questions and answers will be posted on the website, and all answers will 
be posted by January 7, 2013. 
 

4. It is my understanding that these contracts are available to the public. Is there 
somewhere I can find the current legal services contract? Do you have them at the 
MWAA or are they published in another publically accessible place? 
 
Answer:  We have not previously issued a request for proposals for legal services. 
There is no single current “legal services” contract used by the Authority.  
 

5. As part of our technical proposal, we are asked to "identify any client of the firm that 
is an airline, a domestic airport, or an entity under contract or otherwise doing 
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business with the authority." For purposes of identifying entities under contract with 
the authority, should we utilize the "Listing of Current MWAA Contractors-Complete" 
provided on your web site?  It appears that the list was last updated in February 2012. 
 
Answer:  Yes, that is a list that may be used.  The list on the web site was updated on 
February 2, 2012.  
 

6. Is the pre-proposal conference on Nov. 27 an in-person only event?  Is a call-in 
number available? 
 
Answer:  This question is out of date.  The pre-proposal conference was an in-person 
event only. 
 

7. What was the total budget including in house counsel for legal services for the last 
two years? 
Answer:  Approximately $1 million. 

 
8. What was the expenditure for legal services for the specific services described in 

solicitation C245 for each of the last two years?  
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 

 
9. Does the SOW include services for real estate closing services, real estate 

conveyance attorneys, real estate development attorneys, including attorneys who 
draft and review easements, environmental attorneys for storm water, environmental 
attorneys for hazardous materials, environmental attorneys with EPA experience, 
environmental attorneys with Va. DEQ experience, attorneys who specialize in 
condemnation, including quick take proceedings, intellectual property attorneys, tax 
attorneys familiar with federal and Virginia tax law, attorneys with telecommunication 
experience?  If the answer the above is no as to a particular specialty what the 
paragraph in the SOW A-F that excludes this specialty and what paragraph requires 
this specialty?  
Answer:  The services described in the questions are within the Statement of Work for 
this RFP.  However, the specific “EPA” and “Va. DEQ” experiences noted in the 
question, along with the “specialty” it references, are not required. 
 

10. What is a fair and reasonable price for each specialty as determined by market 
analysis?  
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 

 
11. Under V 08, 10, and 12 please state the minimum requirements for capability in each 

area specified and whether each specialty has to a regular staff member?  
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Answer:  Beyond having relevant experience in the last five years with respect to the 
fields identified in the Statement of Work, there are no “minimum . . . capability” or 
experience requirements that must be met in each of the areas of services identified 
in the Statement of Work.  Offeror firms are expected to demonstrate the capability to 
provide services in all or most of the identified areas, and this capability is expected 
to be largely through the use of the firm’s attorneys, though use of subcontractor 
firms to provide some services is permitted.  
 

12. Under VI, what are the technical requirements and required completion dates for a 
normal task order under VI 03 procedures?  
Answer:  The particular requirements and completion dates for task orders that may 
be issued under the task order contracts awarded pursuant to this RFP are not known 
at this time. 
 

13. Under VII that specifies providing all services described in SOW what is the basis for 
an offeror to blend rates for all of the specialties included in SOW X A thru F?  
Answer:  The “basis” for any offer’s blending of hourly rates is to be determined by 
the offeror in preparing its price schedule. 
 

14. What is the market analysis basis for not having an LDBE requirement?  
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

15. Does the SOW include work on the Dulles Metro Rail Project including both Phase 1 
and Phase 2 and what is estimate for the services on this aspect of MWAA legal work?  
Answer:  It is possible that some Statement of Work services will, via task order, be 
undertaken in connection with the Dulles Corridor Metrorail Project.  At this point, it is 
not known whether this will be the case, and no “estimate for [such] services” can 
now be made. 
 

16. Does the SOW include condemnation work that is to done by or through VDOT for the 
Dulles Metro Rail Project?  
Answer:  No. 
 

17. Does the SOW include interfacing with program and real estate consultants for the 
Dulles Metro Rail Project and will the work include conveyances or permits for or with 
WMATA, Fairfax County, and Loudoun County?  
Answer:  Such “interfacing” and “conveyance” or “permit” work is not now 
anticipated. 
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18. How much work included in the SOW description was provided by others during the 
last two years and what specialty was involved?  
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation.  
 

19. Were waivers for conflicts granted to law firms who performed work for MWAA in the 
last year and what was the basis of such waivers and where are the criteria for such 
waivers published?  
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

20. What deliverables will be required by the terms of the contract?  
Answer:  “Deliverables” will be defined in the task orders issued to holders of a task 
order contract awarded pursuant to this RFP.  
 

21. The Price Schedule mandates that additional services will be performed at the 
blended rates of the proposal but the Changes Clause provides for an equitable 
adjustment. This seems to be a conflict and if so is the conflict resolved by the order 
of preference clause? If not explain when and how the Changes Clause becomes 
operational?  
Answer:  It is anticipated that any additional services performed by a firm holding a 
task order contract will be performed at the rates set out in the price schedule the firm 
submitted in response to this RFP. 
 

22. Under Task Order Procedures under the normal processing mode, a negotiation is 
contemplated. What will be the content of such negotiations?  In the absence of 
proposal review for the specific task order what is the basis for a determination that 
the price is fair and reasonable for each task order?  
Answer:  The “price” for a task order will normally either be calculated using the 
hours worked by a firm in performing the task order work and the rates set out in the 
firm’s price schedule or be a firm fixed price agreed to by the firm and Authority at the 
time the task order is issued.   
 

23. What is the basis of the limits contained in the various coverage areas included in the 
insurance requirement when the estimated services are less than $100,000?  
Answer:  This is the Authority’s standard insurance language for contracts of this 
estimated size. Information on the basis for limits is not necessary for proposal 
preparation.  See Amendment Two for update to liability insurance requirements.   

24. What constitutes good cause for the waiver of the insurance requirements on 
Professional Liability?  
Answer:  Professional liability insurance requirements will not be waived. 
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25. What is the basis for making multiple awards?  
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

26. Does EO 11246, or any other similar order or regulation, whether federal, state, or 
local apply?   
 
Answer:  EO 11246 and similar orders will apply to task orders that are funded by the 
Federal Transit Administration. 

 
27. Is MWAA willing to provide written assurance as a part of any contract award that the 

law firm is not acting as a federal government contractor, subcontractor, or as a 
federal grant recipient or sub-recipient?   
 
Answer:  Yes, if this is, in fact, the case with respect to work under a particular task 
order. 

 
28. Will federal funds be used to make payments to the law firm in connection with this 

representation?   
 
Answer:  It is possible that some task orders issued under a task contract awarded 
pursuant to this RFP will be funded by the Federal Transit Administration.   

 
29. Please define the "right to audit" as used in the RFP?  Is MWAA willing to waive its 

right to audit?   
 
Answer:  No.  All Authority contracts are subject to audit to verify that the contractor 
has correctly invoiced the costs of labor and materials to the Authority. 

 
30. Please define the "right of indemnification" as used in the RFP?  Is MWAA willing to 

waive its right of indemnification?   
 
Answer:  The term “right of indemnification” is not used in the RFP.  Paragraph 24 of 
Section VII addresses the subject of indemnification.  The Authority is not willing to 
waive this provision.    

 
31. Does the right to inquire of affirmative action statistics impose an obligation for the 

law firm to respond? What does MWAA consider an acceptable response in the event 
a law firm does not keep affirmative action statistics?   
 
Answer:  Awarded contracts normally will not require successful offerors to maintain 
statistics that the offerors do not otherwise maintain; however, if a task order is 
funded by FTA grants, FTA rules may require certain statistics be kept.   
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32. If successful, will MWAA review, comment, and sign an engagement letter?  Or, do the 

terms of the RFP become the sole terms under which MWAA will enter in to the legal 
services arrangement?   
 
Answer:  The RFP and task order terms will become the sole terms of this legal 
services arrangement. 
 

33. The issuance, of multiple solicitations at one time and the likelihood that incumbents 
were granted earlier information, I am requesting that the period for questions be 
extended two weeks and that the proposals for each be sequentially set for 
submission one week apart beginning on December 15.   
 
Answer:  No provider of legal services, incumbents or otherwise, was provided 
“earlier information.”  In any event, the date for the submission of proposals has been 
extended to January 16, 2013. 
 

34. How were the services described in the SOW procured for the last two years and 
identify the contract, task order, billing rate by hour, total hours, and specialty 
utilized?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

35. What was the legal budget for services described in the SOW for the past two years 
and for upcoming year?  If the amounts exceed the estimates for the various services 
please explain underruns or overruns in excess of ten per cent.?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

36. The SOW for Aviation, Corporate Governance includes a myriad of legal topics 
including all statutory and regulatory matters, litigation, procurement including 
goods, services, and construction interstate compact law, and grants as well as an 
expiring use and agreement.  How is the work described hereunder different from the 
same work described under the other requests for legal services issued on November 
2, 2012?   
 
Answer:  There may be some slight overlap among the RFPs, but the vast majority of 
the services sought in each solicitation are clearly identified in its RFP and only in 
that RFP.  That is the case with this RFP and its Statement of Work. 
 

37. What are the minimum requirements for attorney and paralegal staff for responsibility 
and demonstrated capability as stated in section V12?   
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Answer:  Minimum requirement for “responsibility” for all attorneys performing 
services is licensure by any state bar association.  The lead attorney must be licensed 
to practice law in Virginia.  There are no minimum requirements for paralegal staff.  
Minimum requirement for “demonstrated capability” is a showing of relevant 
experience over the past five years, providing at least some of the services described 
in the Statement of Work. 
 

38. What specialties are required to be in the blended rate for partner and associates as 
set forth on the Pricing Schedule?   
 
Answer:  The blended rates are expected to encompass or reflect any legal 
“specialties” an offeror believes to be necessary or desirable in providing the 
services described in the RFP. 
 

39. What task order contracts were utilized in the past to obtain the services 
contemplated by the SOW?   
 
Answer:  None. 
 

40. What rates were paid for the various specialties in transportation and aviation law, 
DBE and LDBE law, Use and Lease Agreement drafting and policy considerations, and 
procurement law as referenced in the SOW and what were the qualification 
requirements for attorneys who provided those services?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

41. What is the basis for a requirement to reference five prior years of specific experience 
in the broad categories described in the SOW?   
 
Answer:  The RFP does not require five years of experience but relevant experience 
within the past five years. This is based on the Authority’s determination that 
pertinent experience within this five-year period (versus experience prior to the past 
five years) is an important indicator of an offeror’s ability to deliver the work to be 
performed under an awarded contract. 
 

42. What are the recurring standard units of work that make the use of a task order 
appropriate under the Contracting Manual?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation.  In any event, the 
RFP states that work performed under an awarded contract will be compensated on a 
time and materials basis.   
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43. What are the Contracting Manual References that authorize a task order contract for 
the various types of services contained in this and the other solicitations?   
 
Answer:  Section 3.8.1 of the Contracting Manual. 
 

44. What is the basis for waiving conflict of interest issues in hiring and provide the basis 
for granting all such waivers in the past 5 years?   
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation.  In any event, 
contractor conflicts of interests will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis. 
 

45. What is the basis of insurance coverage limits and what prior legal contracts 
contained the current or similar requirements?   
 
Answer:  The insurance coverages are set by the Authority’s Risk Management 
Department, and have been included in all of the legal services RFPs recently issued 
by the Authority.  See Amendment Two for update to liability insurance requirements.   
 

46. What is the basis of a good cause waiver of the insurance requirements included in 
the solicitation?   
 
Answer:  Requests for insurance waivers will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis.  
Professional liability insurance requirements will not be waived.    
 

47. What is the basis for LDBE requirements that have either no requirement or the 
requirement of a 100 per cent set aside?  
 
Answer:  LDBE participation percentages are based upon a review of LDBE firms that 
have been or are eligible to be certified by the Authority and that are determined to be 
able to perform the legal services described in the RFP.   
 

48. What prior contracts for legal services have been awarded using a 100 per cent set 
aside?  
 
Answer: None. 
 

49. What market analyses were used for each of the recent legal service solicitations in 
order to determine what LDBE requirement would be included?  
 
Answer:  This information is not necessary for proposal preparation. 
 

50. How many negotiation sessions in 2013 are contemplated for a Use and Lease 
Agreement that expires in 2014?  
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Answer:  Unknown at this time. 
 

51. How many drafts are contemplated of a new Use and Lease Agreement?  
 
Answer:  Unknown at this time. 
 

52. What procurement services are contemplated under solicitation 1-12-C243?  
 
Answer:  Unknown at this time. 
 

53.  What are the bases for the estimates of the number of hours included in each of the 
recent solicitations for legal services and what was done to prevent overlap?  
 
Answer:  The Authority has tried to make a reasonable projection of the hours of legal 
services work that will be required annually in connection with each of these recent 
solicitations.  However, these projections are estimates, and the actual hours of work 
will very likely vary from the estimates.   
 

 


